HAVEN FARM, FURNERS GREEN (also known as HOME or HEAVEN FARM)
Haven Farm is situated on the A275, one mile south of the village of Danehill. The owner‑farmer is Mr John Butler, who bought the farm and 66 acres of land from the Danehurst
Estate in 1972, having been the tenant farmer since 1960. Mr Butler also rents a further 66 acres of adjacent land belonging to St.Raphaels.
Danehurst House and the residue of the Danehurst estate, which included the Home Farm, was in 1962 purchased by a Roman Catholic Order of nuns, who changed the name “Danehurst” to “St. Raphaels”, and now administer it as a home for sick and elderly ladies. It had earlier been used as an Anglican nursing home, which failed and the house was unoccupied for a couple of years before it was purchased by the nuns.
Danehurst House was built in 1827 on free land held of the Manor of Sheffield. The land had been well farmed, was fertile and comparatively level; and, when you look at the beautiful contours of the fields it is easy to see why Colonel Davies chose this site, to build his fine, new home. Danehurst House was built on the lands of the Haven Farm. The farm house and buildings were then extensively modernised, enlarged or even completely rebuilt, and were used as the Home Farm to the Danehurst Estate.
The present Farm House is a very attractive and substantial building. The brickwork facade is in a chequered pattern typical of the period of 1830. In the living room there is a large oak beam, slightly chamfered, and also an ingle-nook fireplace which connects to a chimney stack built in the style of 1740-80. (The other stacks are contemporary with the brick‑work.) It is possible that a small house of c1750 belonging to the farm had been made much larger and had then replaced the old farm house which was later demolished. To support this theory, an estate map dated 1817 (1) shows the old house south west of the present farm house (near the site of Mr. Butler's new great barn). Mr Butler has also found a well near there.
On the north side of the present house there is a cattle yard bounded by a low wall in the front; stables and stalls fill the other three sides. The farm buildings are all very fine and in an excellent state of repair. There is a beautiful oast house, complete with sail, a granary barn, a huge stable with a pigeon loft above, and other out‑buildings. The brickwork of the farm buildings appears to be early 19th century, but inside there are fine oak beams dating from the late 17th or early 18th century that have been re-used.
William Gardner's & Cream's map of 1795 shows three buildings; probably, the farm house, barn and oast house. On the old maps and records it is called the Heaven or Haven Farm. A footpath, which in places becomes a green lane, runs from Furners Green, skirts the farmyard, over the twenty-two acre field and out into Freshfield Lane, where it originally connected with the bridle path that went by Latchetts and Hole House to Horsted Keynes.
The Butler family, John and his wife, Margaret, two sons and two daughters, all live at Haven Farm. The eldest son, David, is training to be a farmer, his paternal grand-father is at Latchett's Farm, Freshfield Lane, Danehill, and his uncle farms Treemans at Horsted Keynes; so a big area of land in this district is farmed by the family.
The tenants at the farm prior to the Butlers were Martin West and his two sisters, Ruth, the younger one, was unmarried; the elder sister was a Mrs Johnstone. The family were at the farm for forty years, the brother and one sister dying there. The surviving sister gave up the tenancy in 1960. Mr John Butler tells a rather macabre story that when he took over the tenancy he found that the bedrooms of the brother and sister had been closed after they died. The beds were unmade and their clothes and personal possessions left untouched by all bar moth and mildew.
The Wests were very devout and active members of the Strict Baptist Chapel in Danehill, which is now converted into a private house called “Robert's Warren”, next to Danehill Stores.
Kelly's Directory of 1918 stated Harry Rogers is the farmer for both Home and Slider's Farms. The late Mr. William Huggett of Portmansford Farm informed me that Harry Rogers shortly afterwards moved to Piltdown.
Kelly's Directory of 1878 shows William Terry at the Home Farm. Mr William Huggett's maternal grandmother was called Annie Jenner. She left her husband and came to Danehill with her three children and stayed for some years with her father, William Terry, who was the tenant farmer of Home Farm. The cottages in Danehill known as “Terry's Row”, together with the bake house now used by Mr.Cottenham, were built by order of William Terry. The bake house was given to Annie to provide an income and source of interest for her. William Huggett said his father, then a little boy of five, saw the preparations being made in the kitchen of Home Farm and then two doctors arriving on horseback to perform an operation for breast cancer on one of his aunts.
The 1851 Census Return gives the tenant farmer as “Richard Hobden aged 33 of Haven Farm. Farmer of 206 acres, employs three labourers. Born at Chailey, Mary his wife (26) born at Fletching, their one year old daughter Mary A. Susan Day, mother-in-law, Widow of a Farmer, born Fletching, Eliza Cushion aged 13, General Servant, born at St Giles, Mddx and four farm labourers.”
The Tithe map and schedule of 1840/1 gives the names of the fields. Today most of the names of the fields are unchanged, though some have been amalgamated by the removal of hedges.
In 1827 Col. Davies bought the Haven. Farm and the neighbouring “Stereshern" from the Trustees of Henri and Mary Ann de Bourbel (after Henri and his family had returned to France). Mary Ann was the daughter of Henry and the granddaughter of Luke Spence, and had inherited her grandfather's properties. On the Fletching Land Tax the Spence lands are called “Huggetts and Awcocks”. The tenant farmer between 1808 and 1827 was John Wheeler. (2) A number of the de Bourbel family papers are deposited in the East Sussex Record Office and include a set of Deeds relating to a Farm in Fletching. The properties named in the Deeds of the Fletching Farm. were variously called Hammings, Newmans, Boord's Croft, Huggetts, Wigerhouse and Austins, and were dated from 1387‑1796. (3) The connecting link and proof that these were the early Deeds of Haven Farm and neighbouring lands were found in the Survey of the Manor of Sheffield, dated 1833 (3), which stated 'Col. Davies is the owner of Newmans‑and Hamming Hammings which is part of the Haven Farm. Directions are also given. Land adjacent was called “Huggetts” , and today a wood between Sliders and Haven Farm is known by that name. There is a connection with the ancestors of the Huggett family and the iron ore industry. The jingle goes 'Master Huggett and his man John, he did make the first can-non'. (4). Particularly in the time of Henry VIII and Elizabeth I, this area was very heavily engaged in the making of iron.
A large number of' the people listed in the de Bourbel Deeds would not have lived at the Farms, but would have bought the properties as an investment. Some held the Mortgages. Indeed, several of the people named owned large amounts of property elsewhere. However, some did actually live there and farmed the lands. John Awcocke (Awcock) held Newmans and farmed the 60 acres of free land held of the Manor of Sheffield in 1501. His son John after him, and when he, died in 1560 the property is inherited by his son, Richard. Richard Awcocke was a Juror of the Manor Court of Sheffield and farmed copy-hold land of the Manor as well as his own free land. He died in 1597 and was succeeded by his son, Richard. (5). Perhaps he was not such a good farmer, for from 1610 the property was mortgaged to various people (6). Even worse trouble befell the Awcocke family when a drunken Thomas Awcocke sold his property to Henry Browne, who promptly sold the Haven Farm and Steresherne to Luke Spence. The tenant farmer was William Foorde and he was immediately replaced by Richard Funnell.
So through the various Deeds and Documents we can trace the history of Newmans back to May 20th 1471 when John Warnett of Uckfield sold or mortgaged the property to William Atherwold of Coolham, and the adjoining Hammings back to March 10th 1387 when Nicholas Dynot of Fletching (there is a brass to his memory in the parish church there) sold the property to John Hammyng.
This is a report on part of the history of a working farm that spans nearly 600 years. The life and methods of the present day farmer will be very different from that of his predecessors, but the land described in these early deeds is still farm land and the acreage is little changed. We hope it will continue to be farmed for many more generations.
Hylda Rawlings. August 1979.
Sources of information:
(1)

The deeds held by Mrs B. Hardy
(2)

E.S.R.O. The de Bourbel Papers
4963‑5362
(3)

E.S.R.O. The Survey of Sheffield Manor SRL/14/5
(4)

'Wealden Iron' by Ernest Straker. Page 146
(5)

S.A.S. Court Books of the Manor of Sheffield 787/8
(6)

E.S.R.O. Mortgage Deed 1610. Richard Awcock to Anthony Goldsmith.
I would like to thank Mrs Margaret Holt, who inspected Haven Farm and dated the brickwork and timber.
A letter found amongst Mrs B. Hardy's Deeds relating to the proposed sale of the Haven Farm, addressed to Luke Spence Esq. from Henry Brown of Withyham Manor, dated 1759, contained the following paragraph.
“I have lost no time in getting Foorde out and Funnell in as you wanted which has cost me five guineas.”
